



on the reproductive and sexual health and rights of **people with disability** 2014-2018



www.fpnsw.org.au | talkline 1300 658 886 | bookshop

clinical services & information | education & training | research | international development Family Planning NSW is a not-for-profit organisation funded by the NSW Ministry of Health Family Planning NSW would like to thank the following people and organisations for generously giving time to review and comment on this document.

Aboriginal Disability Network

ACON

Centre for Disability Studies, University of Sydney

Clinic 16, Northern Sydney Local Health District House With No Steps, Wollongong Intellectual Disability Rights Service NSW Council for Intellectual Disability People with Disability Australia Inc

Self Advocacy Sydney Inc

Touching Base Inc

Waverley Community Living Program

Acronyms

ADHC	NSW Department of Family and Community Services, Ageing Disability and Home Care
CALD	Culturally and linguistically diverse
GPs	General Practitioners
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	Human papilloma virus
LARCs	Long acting reversible contraceptives
LGBTI	Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex
LHDs	Local Health Districts
NDIS	National Disability Insurance Scheme
NEDA	National Ethnic Disability Alliance
NSW DEC	NSW Department of Education and Communities
PDHPE	Personal development, health and physical education
STIs	Sexually transmissible infections
UNCRPD	United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities



Contents

ABOUT FAMILY PLANNING NSW
INTRODUCTION
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1. A HUMAN RIGHTS FRAMEWORK 11
 2. REPRODUCTIVE AND SEXUAL HEALTH
 3. CHOICE, INDEPENDENCE AND INCLUSION
4. SEXUAL HEALTH AND RELATIONSHIPS EDUCATION IN SCHOOLS294.1 Secondary school education304.2 Primary school education314.3 Training for teachers31
5. EDUCATION AND SUPPORT FOR PARENTS AND CARERS
 6. TRAINING AND SKILL DEVELOPMENT FOR CLINICIANS, HEALTH PROFESSIONALS AND DISABILITY WORKERS
7. BIBLIOGRAPHY

ABOUT FAMILY PLANNING NSW

Family Planning NSW is the leading provider of reproductive and sexual health services in NSW. We are experts on contraception, pregnancy options, sexually transmissible infections (STIs), sexuality and sexual function, menstruation, menopause, common gynaecological and vaginal problems, cervical cancer screening, breast awareness and men's sexual health.

We have five fixed clinics in NSW (Ashfield, Fairfield, Penrith, the Hunter region and Dubbo) and use innovative partnerships to deliver services in other key locations across the state with around 28,000 client visits annually. We also operate a free, confidential telephone and email information and referral service, connecting our expertise to communities across NSW.

We provide information and health promotion activities, as well as education and training for doctors, nurses, teachers and other health, education and welfare professionals.

As an independent, not-for-profit organisation, we recognise that every body in every family should have access to high quality clinical services and information, and we provide a safe place for people to talk about their most intimate and personal issues. Our services are targeted to communities, including people from culturally and linguistically diverse and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds, refugees, people with disability, young people, people from rural and remote communities and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transexual and intersex (LGBTI) people.

Family Planning NSW is working to assist poor and disadvantaged communities in the Asia Pacific region to access comprehensive reproductive and sexual health services. We collaborate with organisations at national and international levels to strengthen the ability of local health providers to deliver high quality family planning services.

We respect the rights of our clients to make choices about their reproductive and sexual health and we treat each and every person with respect, dignity and understanding.

Our work is evidence-based, and shaped by our research through the Family Planning NSW Sydney Centre for Reproductive and Sexual Health Research, our published clinical practice handbooks on reproductive and sexual health,¹⁻² our nationally recognised data and evaluation unit and validated through our own extensive clinical and education practice.

OUR WORK WITH PEOPLE WITH DISABILITY

We provide education and training for teachers, disability workers, clinicians, family members and carers about sexuality for people with intellectual disability. Our clinics are a safe place for people with disability to talk about intimate and sometimes challenging issues and to access confidential reproductive and sexual healthcare. We also produce innovative easy to read resources to support our professional and community education activities. Our work aligns with the priorities of people with a disability and organisations that support them.

Family Planning NSW has been delivering targeted services to people with disability for more than 35 years.

INTRODUCTION

Recent initiatives by the Federal and NSW Governments have laid the foundations for change in the way people with disability access services and support, with a person with disability encouraged to exercise choice and control over the planning and delivery of support services.

These initiatives include Australia's ratification of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities,³ the Productivity Commission report Disability Care and Support (Productive Commission Inquiry Report July 2011),⁴ The National Disability Strategy 2010-2020⁵ and the associated NSW Implementation Plan 2012-2014,⁶ the NSW Service Framework to Improve the Health Care of People with Intellectual Disability (July 2012),⁷ changes to the NSW Disability Services Act,⁸ the Review of the Disability Standards for Education 2005 (reviewed 2012)⁹, and the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013.¹⁰

The Senate Community Affairs Legislative Committee inquiry into the *Involuntary and* coerced sterilisation of people with disabilities in Australia¹¹ (report released July 2013) provided stark evidence on why the reproductive and sexual health of women and men with disability must be prioritised by governments.

We welcome these initiatives and congratulate the NSW and Federal Governments for opening dialogue and debate on how we improve, in very real terms, the lives of people with disability.

It is in this context that Family Planning NSW has prepared this document to guide the Federal and NSW Governments on the policy, legislative, regulatory, service delivery and funding decisions that need to be made to ensure people with disability have equity of access to optimal reproductive and sexual health services and support. Reproductive and sexual health must be included in disability, health and education policy, the disability and health research agenda, clinical service provision, data collection and workforce development strategies.

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD) states that impairment is a long-term condition and may be physical, mental, intellectual or sensory. A disability is the result of the interaction between people who have impairments and the attitudinal and environmental barriers that hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others.

The UNCRPD promotes a shift in understanding that recognises the limitations created by disability not as a problem of a person but as a problem of barriers created by society. It also recognises that people with disability are holders of the same rights as everyone else including sexual and reproductive health rights.³

Family Planning NSW adopts the UNCRPD definition of disability. We recognise that people with disability are a diverse group. The intention of this document is to cover a range of reproductive and sexual health issues that many people with disability experience.

4

executive summary

The subject of sexuality is generally a silent, ignored and invisible aspect of the lives of people with disability. It's a subject that governments have largely failed to acknowledge and in doing so make the necessary changes that ensure people with disability have the opportunity to participate in loving, safe and fulfilling sexual relationships.

The responsibility for implementing change does not only rest with governments; change is required within schools and educational institutions, disability service providers, reproductive and sexual health services and public and private clinical settings.

Change is also required in the way the general community sees a person with disability. If the sexuality of a person with disability remains silent, ignored and invisible then society will continue to deny the reproductive and sexual health needs and aspirations of people with disability.

As the leading provider of reproductive and sexual health services in NSW, our role is to give voice to the rights of people with disability to make choices about their reproductive and sexual health.

Our role is to highlight the areas where action is required because we believe the sexuality of a person with disability should be celebrated not ignored.

We also believe it is our responsibility to advocate for the reproductive and sexual health rights of people with disability because we know that people with disability and women in particular, are more at risk of sexual assault and exploitation than people without disability.

It is incumbent on governments to protect the most vulnerable people in our communities by giving them the skills and information they need to live safe, happy and fulfilling sexual lives. We now have an unprecedented opportunity for change and to acknowledge that people with disability have the same rights as people without disability in:

- reproductive health and fertility
- gender equality
- parenting
- sexual health and sexuality
- sexual behaviour and sexual orientation
- sexual safety and protective behaviours
- relationship support
- sexual function
- sexual health and relationships education

Where to from here?

- Family Planning NSW will provide regular updates on our advocacy activities through our quarterly disability e-news
- We will also release an annual summary outlining the progress being made on the areas of action outlined in this document
- For more information and updates
 www.fpnsw.org.au/loveandkissestakingaction
- To join us in taking action, sign up for our disability e-news
 www.fpnsw.org.au/subscribe



National and state policies and strategies are developed to be inclusive of people with disability

(UNCRPD Articles 16, 21, 23, 24 and 25)

• Policies and strategies are aligned with the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in relation to reproductive and sexual health

Improved access to optimal reproductive and sexual health services for people with disability

(UNCRPD Articles 23 and 25)

- Consistent data is collected to inform policy and service planning for people with disability in areas including:
 - access to reproductive and sexual health services
 - screening rates for STIs, cervical cancer and breast cancer
 - prevalence of STIs including HIV
 - prevalence of HPV related cancers and breast cancer
 - prevalence of contraception use, unintended pregnancy and termination of pregnancy
- Reproductive and sexual health services are accessible to people with disability. This includes not only access to the physical environments, but also through skilled clinical, allied health and administration staff
- Reproductive and sexual health services are sufficiently funded to provide long consultations and ongoing care for people with disability
- Education and resources about menstruation and menopause are readily available to women with disability and their families

- Education and resources about puberty are readily available to young people with disability
- Easy to read information on contraception (including LARCs) and fertility options for women with disability is developed and distributed to Medicare Locals, GPs, Local Health Districts (LHDs) and relevant service providers as outlined in the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013¹⁰
- Clinicians and other health providers are supplied with information on referral pathways to specialised services such as Family Planning NSW
- Cervical and breast cancer screening are promoted to women with disability as outlined in the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013¹⁰
- Provide better education and develop referral pathways for clinicians partnering with women with disability to ensure their health needs are met as outlined in the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013¹⁰
- The reproductive and sexual health of men with disability is included in national and state men's health policy and implementation plans
- The Federal and NSW Governments implement recommendations⁵ of the Community Affairs Reference Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
- The committee abhors the suggestion that sterilisation ever be used as a means of managing the pregnancy risks associated with sexual abuse and strongly recommends that this must never be a factor in approval of sterilisation⁷
- The Federal and NSW Governments implement recommendations 9-18 and 20-28 of the Community Affairs Reference Committee report



into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia¹¹

Choice, independence and inclusion should be supported to allow a person with disability to achieve optimal reproductive and sexual health

(UNCRPD Articles 16, 21, 23, 24 and 25)

- Access to sexuality education, sex services and reproductive and sexual health services are included in the NDIS and person centred planning
- People with disability have access to comprehensive sexuality related education during all life stages, customised to meet their individual needs
- The NSW and Federal Governments implement recommendation 4 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
- that in the development of participant plans (particularly for participants approaching puberty and in their teens), the participant work with any person assisting them with plan development, and with the NDIS, to cover the need for understanding of sexuality and sexual relationships, support for relationships and sex education that meets the participants' needs, and covers appropriate support for menstrual management for girls and women with disabilities
- The NSW Government facilitates greater awareness of the reproductive and sexual health services available to disability service providers. This should be provided at a regional level and where physical services are not available, reproductive and sexual health information, referral websites, phone and email services

(such as Family Planning NSW Talkline) should be promoted to disability service providers

- Professional development is supported for disability workers to assist in managing reproductive and sexual health issues for people with disability
- Funding is provided for Family Planning NSW to deliver workshops in rural and regional areas of NSW that are customised to develop skills in communication, increased knowledge of the sexual rights of people with disability and knowledge of referral pathways. The workshops will be offered to both disability and sexual health workers to bring the two workforces together
- The NSW and Federal Governments support Recommendation 3 and 6 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
 - that medical workforce training include training with respect to the ethical and legal aspects of informed consent, substitute and supported decision-making and fertility control.
 - that, for a person with disability who has the capacity to consent, or to consent where provided with appropriate decision-making support, sterilisation should be banned unless undertaken with that consent
- An education and training program is developed to support clinicians and health workers in the private and public health settings to understand and appropriately support decision-making by people with disability, particularly as it relates to their reproductive and sexual health. The program should be supported by resources and other appropriate communication tools
- Sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status are acknowledged in all disability policy,



government statements and documentation, strategies and service delivery frameworks

- People with disability from CALD backgrounds are acknowledged in all disability policy, government statements and documentation, strategies and service delivery frameworks
- People with disability from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds are acknowledged in all disability policy, government statements and documentation, strategies and service delivery frameworks
- National and state policies related to reproductive and sexual health, including the NSW HIV strategy, make explicit reference to the needs of people with intellectual disability. It should be clear that people with disability are represented in all priority populations groups⁵¹
- Easy to read information and education resources on reproductive and sexual health are translated into key languages to support people with disability and their families and carers from CALD backgrounds
- Research is undertaken to inform reproductive and sexual health service delivery for people with disability from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds
- Pathways are developed for LGBTI people with disability to access services provided by the LGBTI service sector
- Specific programs are developed to address the social isolation experienced by LGBTI people with disability. This includes opportunities for socialising
- Easy to read information and education resources on sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status are developed and distributed

Students with disability should be provided with age appropriate, optimal sexuality and relationship education in all NSW schools

(UNCRPD Articles 21 and 24)

- That the NSW Government implement recommendation 1 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
- that in education programmes relating to disability and in sex education and family planning information targeted to the disability sector, education about relationships and sexuality for people with disability should be prioritised, with an emphasis on the reasonable and normal aspirations of people with disability regarding their sexuality and relationships
- The NSW DEC conducts a review of the Life Skills Module with an emphasis on introducing best practice sexual health and relationships education for students with disability including:
 - The extent to which students with intellectual disability are being taught sexual health and relationships education
 - Identifying the barriers to providing effective sexual health and relationships education and the impact on student learning outcomes
- Pre-service teacher training is enhanced to include delivery of the Life Skills Module
- Special education teachers are provided with training to increase their skills in delivering the Life Skills Module
- The NSW DEC develops a Life Skills Module for primary school students with disability and provides guidelines and training for teachers to ensure its effective implementation



- Funding is provided for Family Planning NSW to develop easy to read information and resources to support sexual health and relationships education in schools
- The NSW Ministry of Health and the NSW DEC support the development of interactive technology for smart boards and tablets to reflect contemporary teaching practices for sexual health and relationships education for students with disability
- The NSW DEC provides clear guidelines to teachers about their role and responsibility to provide sexual health and relationships education in primary and secondary years and support teachers in the delivery of the module to students with disability
- The NSW DEC actively and openly encourages and supports parents and carers to participate in the teaching of sexual health and relationships education in schools

Parents and carers of people with disability should be provided with education and appropriate resources to positively support the sexuality and relationships education of the child in their care

(UNCRPD Articles 21 and 23)

- The NSW DEC develops appropriate resources and information, specifically addressing issues relating to sexuality and disability, for parents and carers to engage in the sexuality education of their child
- The NSW DEC provides funding support for parents and carers to attend sexuality education courses which align with the teaching of sexual health and relationships education in schools

- ADHC supports organisations such as Family Planning NSW in the coordination of education forums (including in rural and remote areas of NSW) as a positive way to convey accurate information on reproductive and sexual health issues. The forums also give parents and carers a safe place to share their experiences and concerns with other parents
- Information is provided to parents and carers through government agencies and disability service providers about where to access support around sexuality and reproductive health education

Workforce development strategies should be implemented for clinicians and health and disability workers to provide a safe place for people with disability to access optimal reproductive and sexual health services

(UNCRPD Articles 16, 21 and 25)

- Family Planning NSW receives funding to:
- expand its professional development programme for GPs, other clinical professionals, disability workers and HIV and sexual health workers
- develop on-line and easy to read resources to support clinicians and other clinical professionals, disability workers and HIV and sexual health workers
- The ADHC Human Relationships and Sexuality Policy is reviewed and updated and training provided to staff to ensure its effective implementation
- Disability service providers are required to implement organisational policies to protect the rights of people with disability in regard to reproductive and sexual health

- Mandatory training in reproductive and sexual health is introduced for disability workers
- The Community Service Training Package CHC08 is reviewed by the Community Services and Health Industry Skills Council to include reproductive and sexual health as a core unit of competency for qualifications in disability, youth work and other relevant sectors
- Undergraduate clinicians are trained to better understand the rights of people with disability and develop skills to uphold these rights
- Medicare Locals and LHDs promote education to GPs and other health workers about the reproductive and sexual health needs of people with disability
- That the NSW and Federal Governments implement recommendations 2 and 19 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
- that medical workforce training with respect to sexual and reproductive health includes content on supporting sexual relationships and sexual and reproductive health needs for people with disability
- that courts and tribunals develop information packs and questionnaires to provide guidance for medical experts in sterilisation cases. The information packs should specify the factors that courts and tribunals consider under the relevant legislation, and should also note issues that the courts and tribunals are not authorised to consider such as outdated and paternalistic attitudes to disability, eugenic arguments or assessments of the person's current or hypothetical capacity to care for children. Questionnaires should seek the medical expert's

advice about the procedures that could usefully be adopted in the particular case to facilitate both a robust medical assessment and the person's participation in the proceedings

- The NSW Government and Medicare Locals facilitate greater awareness of the reproductive and sexual health services available to support people with disability. This should be provided at a regional level and where physical services are not available, reproductive and sexual health information and referral websites, and phone and email services (such as Family Planning NSW Talkline) should be promoted to disability service providers
- The NSW Government includes data collection for people with disability in the reporting requirements for government contracts for all reproductive and sexual health



a human rights framework

1. a human rights framework

In 2008, Australia ratified the *UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities* (UNCRPD)³ including the Optional Protocol which gives the UN the power to inquire about a nation's reported breach of the Convention. The UNCRPD is a powerful statement of what Australia and the world believe are the fundamental rights of people with disability, and goes some way towards reducing discrimination. Family Planning NSW acknowledges Australia's commitment to the UNCRPD and believes the Convention provides fundamental principles for all decision-making by the Federal and NSW Governments.

We draw attention in particular to Articles 16, 21, 23, 24 and 25 which specifically address rights around reproductive and sexual health including:

Article 16: Freedom from exploitation, violence and abuse

• Taking all appropriate legislative, administrative, social, educational and other measures to protect persons with disabilities, both within and outside the home, from all forms of exploitation, violence and abuse, including their gender-based aspects

Article 21: Freedom of expression and opinion, and access to information

 Providing information intended for the general public to persons with disability in accessible formats and technologies appropriate to different kinds of disabilities in a timely manner and without additional cost

Article 23: Respect for home and the family

• Eliminating discrimination for people with disability in all matters relating to marriage, family, parenthood and relationships

- The right of people with disability to decide freely and responsibly on the number and spacing of their children and to have access to age appropriate information, reproductive and family planning education, and the means necessary to enable them to exercise these rights
- The right of people with disability to retain their fertility on an equal basis with others

Article 24: Education

- Recognising the right of people with disability to education without discrimination and on the basis of equal opportunity ensuring an inclusive education system at all levels and life long learning
- Enabling people with disability to learn life and social development skills to facilitate their full and equal participation in education and as members of the community

Article 25: Health

• Providing people with disability with the same range, quality and standard of free or affordable health care and programmes as provided to other persons, including the area of sexual and reproductive health

People with disability face a wide range of myths from society about their sexuality. These myths serve to discount the sexuality of people with disability and justify the silence, discrimination, violence and inaction around their reproductive and sexual rights as outlined in the UNCRPD.

People with disability have a right to have sexual relationships together and go out together and enjoy life Louise, Love & Kisses/the DVD





National and state policies and strategies are developed to be inclusive of people with disability (UNCRPD Articles 16, 21, 23, 24 and 25)

Policies and strategies are aligned with the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in relation to reproductive and sexual health

Myths about the sexuality of people with disability:

- people with disability are asexual²⁴⁻³²
- women with disability who are single are celibate²⁴
- all people with disability are heterosexual²⁴
- only independently functioning people can handle relationships²⁴
- women with disability cannot be mothers²⁴
- people with disability will have children with disability and this should be prevented
- women with disability should be grateful for any sexual activity they have²⁴
- people with disability are not sexually active and do not have sufficient life expectancy to warrant preventative screening ³³
- youth and beauty are essential to sexuality²⁴
 men with disability cannot control their sexuality they may be dangerous³⁴
- no one would sexually assault a person with disability
- educating people with disability about sexuality will only make them want to have sex

These myths reflect negative attitudes and stereotypes about the sexuality and abilities of people with disability.

The facts are:

- people with a disability have the right to choose whether they are sexual or not, whether they have sexual relationships with people of the same or different sex and whether they will have children
- people with disability have the right to live free from exploitation, abuse and violence
- education and information are essential if people with disability are to make healthy decisions, form positive relationships and reduce vulnerability to abuse



reproductive and sexual health

Emergency Proceedure

2. reproductive and sexual health

2.1 Contraception and family planning

Clinicians can find it difficult to talk to a woman with disability about contraceptive options²⁵ while parents and carers can find the situation confronting and are unsure of where to turn for assistance.

The Federal Government's Community Affairs References Committee inquiry into the involuntary or coerced sterilisation of people with disabilities in Australia¹¹ demonstrated why governments need to provide support to people with disability to access clinical pathways and appropriate information to allow for informed decisionmaking about reproductive and sexual health. While Family Planning NSW's submission to the inquiry related primarily to the reproductive and sexual health of people with disability, we support the Committee's recommendations to improve and strengthen the legal framework as it relates to the sterilisation of people with disability.

Women with disability are often denied the information, education and support they need to make informed decisions about contraception, family planning and parenthood. Men with disability also require an understanding of contraception for themselves and their female partners, and education about being a father if this is an aspiration they have.

For all women choosing and planning for pregnancy and parenthood is important. For women with disability such choice accompanied by support and planning is often denied to them due to:

- discrimination women with disability who make this choice can be discriminated against by people who assume a person with disability is non-sexual, not capable of having a relationship or parenting a child
- clinicians and support workers being ill equipped to talk to a woman with disability about having a child and therefore unable or unwilling to assist with pregnancy and parenting information.³⁵ General Practitioners (GPs), nurses and other health providers require information, resources and training to support people with disability in the practice setting
- the risk of exploitation and abuse in relationships. The power imbalance in the relationships of women with intellectual disability often contributes to their lack of control over their fertility

Family Planning NSW supports the rights of people with disability to choose to have children and families. Women with disability should have access to the same contraceptive options as women without disability. Women with disability should have access to information on all available contraceptives, including long acting reversible contraceptives (LARCs), which are safe, highly effective and don't rely on daily compliance and can assist in managing menstruation.



Family Planning NSW supports the rights of people with disability to have children and families.



2.2 Puberty

Puberty is a time of great change in a child's life. Most people with disability progress through the same reproductive and sexual development as people without disability. This is normal and healthy. Children have a right to information and education about the changes that happen during puberty. Easy to read information should be readily available to help parents, support workers and clinicians to educate, inform and support children with intellectual disability approaching or going through the physical and emotional changes that occur with puberty.

Girls have a right to learn how to be as independent as possible around managing menstruation and most girls have the ability to manage their periods independently or with minimal supervision. Education should start prior to menarche so that a girl is prepared for these changes when they occur. An open and positive approach is essential to assisting the girl to feel that menstruation is normal and part of growing up. Clinicians should be equipped to support the girl and her family and be able to offer up to date and practical advice.

Sterilisation is not acceptable as a means of stopping menstruation unless it's medically required for the health of a woman.

2.3 Menopause

Menopause has been a stage of reproductive development that has been neglected for women with disability. For some this may be a time of physical and emotional change. Women should receive education and support to understand this time in their lives and if necessary have medical support. Too often behavioural and emotional changes are attributed by others as just being part of the disability.

Women with disability of all ages should be able to access the same clinical care for gynaecological issues as women without disability. Women with disability need to feel able to discuss gynaecological problems with their clinicians. Clinicians need to feel comfortable communicating with women with disability to enquire about symptoms that need further investigations.

The Community Affairs Reference Committee¹¹ concluded there is a shocking lack of resources available for people with disability to assist them with:

- choices about relationships and sexuality
- sexual and reproductive health, including contraception and sterilisation
 - menstrual management

Many of the attitudes reported to the committee and experienced by people with disabilities regarding reproductive and sexual health have contributed towards a perception by some that irreversible sterilisation is the best solution to a range of needs and issues, particularly for women with disabilities.¹¹

16

2.4 Prevention of HPV related and breast cancers

People with disability have the same risk factors for human papilloma virus (HPV) related cancers, such as cervical and anal cancer, as people without disability. They have the right to accessible information and education about ways to reduce their risk of cancer, including information about vaccination and screening programs. Adolescents with disability should be included in HPV vaccination programs at schools and adults need to be supported to access screening programs.

GPs, teachers, carers and parents may need information to raise their awareness of the benefits of such programs for people with disability. This will need to address some of the reasons why support is not offered including negative attitudes that stereotype people with disability as asexual. A 2004 literature review by the Cancer Institute NSW³⁶ found that women with disability remain under screened for cervical and breast cancer, but the actual prevalence of under screening in NSW is unknown due to a lack of data. The review found three main causes for reduced screening rates amongst women with disability:

- knowledge and attitudes of general practitioners
- knowledge of women with disability and their preventative health needs
- accessibility to general practitioners' premises and examination equipment

Reproductive health issues have often been ignored in women with disabilities because of the myth that they are asexual beings and therefore not in need of screening services.^{25, 28, 31}

Since 2010, 1,638 people who reported having disability accessed our clinical services making just over 4,800 visits. They visited Family Planning NSW clinics for gynaecological, contraception, sexually transmissible infections, pregnancy and other reproductive and sexual health issues.



Figure 1. Main services provided to Family Planning NSW clients who reported having disability 2010-2012

Main service provided



2.5 Sexually transmissible infections including HIV

People with intellectual disability are exposed to all the same risk factors for STIs and HIV as people without disability however their utilisation of reproductive and sexual health services is anecdotally reported to be low. The actual number of people accessing services is unknown due to a lack of service level data.³⁷

Data and research regarding the reproductive and sexual health of men with disability is particularly limited. Current sexual health and men's health policies fail to acknowledge the needs of men with disability.

The lack of data keeps people with intellectual disability invisible to government decision-makers and support services and means health promotion and education strategies to support people with disability are not prioritised.

Those people who are particularly at risk include:³⁷

- Young people leaving school and not linked to disability services
- People who are living in boarding houses, correctional facilities and other institutional settings
- People who are homeless
- People who have not been diagnosed with a disability but are struggling with understanding or are not receiving preventative health messages, or developing skills in negotiating safe sex
- People who are experiencing sexual violence or exploitation
- People accessing sex on premises or beats who are not understanding health messages in these settings

And the precautions we have to take because sometimes things unintentionally happen and that's not good. The contamination of sexually related diseases or infections is the worst and no one ever wants it to happen but unfortunately if either side of it doesn't do the right thing, the right time, well that's when the disaster can easily and at first unknowingly happen which ends up causing great sadness.



2.6 Sexual assault

People with disability have the right to live free from abuse and exploitation. However they are significantly more likely to be sexually assaulted at all ages than people without disability.¹²

Women with developmental and intellectual disability are most at risk of being sexually assaulted.¹³⁻¹⁶ It is unlikely that a person with disability who experiences sexual assault will only have one experience of this in their life time.^{13,17-18}

Many people with disability will have experienced repeated incidences of sexual assault by the time they are 18 years of age.¹⁹

When people with disability do report sexual assault they are typically not believed and or the systemic response to the assault is not appropriately dealt with. ²⁰⁻²³

To address these issues there is a need for:

- Coordination of disability, sexual assault, advocacy and police services
- Organisational culture and policies that prioritises violence prevention
- Education of disability workers to recognise and respond to sexual assault⁵⁶

The poor accessing of services is exacerbated by a pervasive stereotype that people with disability are not sexually active

Many people working in the disability sector do not know about, or believe there is a need for reproductive and sexual health services for their clients

 Carers and family members are uncomfortable in supporting the person with disability to access services

 There is a lack of accessible information and education about STI and HIV transmission

People with Disability Australia is aware that many sexual health and family planning organisations across Australia lack the necessary funding to provide comprehensive, targeted, gender and age specific services to people with disability.¹¹





Improved access to optimal reproductive and sexual health services for people with disability

(UNCRPD Articles 23 and 25)

- Consistent data is collected to inform policy and service planning for people with disability in areas including;
 - access to reproductive and sexual health services
 - screening rates for STIs, cervical cancer and breast cancer
 - prevalence of STIs including HIV
 - prevalence of HPV related cancers and breast cancer
 - prevalence of contraception use, unintended pregnancy and termination of pregnancy
- Reproductive and sexual health services are accessible to people with disability. This includes not only access to the physical environments, but also through skilled clinical, allied health and administration staff
- Reproductive and sexual health services are sufficiently funded to provide long consultations and ongoing care for people with disability
- Education and resources about menstruation and menopause are readily available to women with disability and their families
- Education and resources about puberty is readily available to young people with disability
- Easy to read information on contraception (including LARCs) and fertility options for women with disability is developed and distributed to Medicare Locals, GPs, Local Health Districts (LHDs) and relevant service providers as outlined in the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013¹⁰

- Clinicians and other health providers are supplied with information on referral pathways to specialised services such as Family Planning NSW
- Cervical cancer and breast screening are promoted to women with disability as outlined in the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013¹⁰
- Provide better education and develop referral pathways for clinicians partnering with women with disability to ensure their health needs are met as outlined in the NSW Health Framework for Women's Health 2013¹⁰
- The reproductive and sexual health of men with disability is included in national and state men's health policy and implementation plans
- The Federal and NSW Governments implement recommendations⁵ of the Community Affairs Reference Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
 - The committee abhors the suggestion that sterilisation ever be used as a means of managing the pregnancy risks associated with sexual abuse and strongly recommends that this must never be a factor in approval of sterilisation⁷
- The Federal and NSW Governments implement recommendations 9-18 and 20-28 of the Community Affairs Reference Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia¹¹



choice, independence and inclusion

3. choice, independence and inclusion

People with disability want the same choices as other people and the opportunity to live independent lives. They have the right to make their own decisions about their relationships and reproductive and sexual health. However, people with disability may require different levels of support in order to experience the same rights as others.

There are limited opportunities for a person with disability to access education, health and support services for reproductive and sexual health, particularly as it relates to sexual health, sexuality, sexual behaviour, sexual orientation, sexual safety and protective behaviours, relationship support and sexual function. Lack of support in these areas has resulted in people with disability being denied their reproductive and sexual rights and left vulnerable to exploitation and abuse.

3.1 Relationships and inclusion

People with disability have the same desire for relationships and intimacy as anyone else. However, the societal myths that prevail about the sexuality of people with disability often present significant barriers to the development of a range of different types of relationships.

People with disability often have limited access to opportunities to socialise, to make friends and to form intimate relationships.³⁸

Sexuality and sexual expression is the last bastion in lots of ways. People with disability want connection and intimacy and touch Denise, Touching Base Inc. For some people with disability their social opportunities may be so limited that their relationships are restricted to family members and care givers. For others their opportunities to socialise may be confined to programs for people with disability with few prospects to meet people without disability and to participate in community life. Disability support services lack formalised programs that provide education about relationships and provide practical support in developing healthy relationships including intimate relationships. This further entrenches the social exclusion and isolation faced by many people with disability and is a factor in contributing to the higher rates of mental illness experienced by people with disability.³⁹

You see intimacy and you try; you struggle with it yourself. Tony, Love & Kisses/the DVD

For people with disability to experience full lives and be included in community life they need to be actively supported to meet people, form friendships, learn relationship skills and develop intimate relationships. Programs and services aimed at improving the reproductive and sexual health of people with disability therefore need to address these issues in the context of peoples' sexual lives and relationships. Safe and supportive environments are required so people with disability can explore their sexuality safely without being at risk of exploitation.



3.2 Person centred approach to disability support

Family Planning NSW supports the establishment of person centred plans for people with disability. We believe person centred plans should provide the opportunity for people with disability to access reproductive and sexual health services including education, resources, and clinical and health promotion services.

The plans should not be focused only on aspects of a person's life that have traditionally been supported by government. A person centred system will only be effective if Federal and State legislation and service delivery frameworks allow for a broader view of what makes a person whole.

The NDIS provide the vehicle for improving the way people with disability access reproductive and sexual health services

The first stage of the NDIS in NSW will be focused on the Hunter region, providing an opportunity for the NSW Government to include and support access to reproductive and sexual health services for people with disability. Family Planning NSW's Hunter clinic is well placed to provide this service and work in partnership with NSW Department of Family and Community Services Ageing Disability and Home Care (ADHC) to deliver reproductive and sexual health services.

People with disability should have a range of opportunities to explore and express their sexuality on an equal basis with others, including access to the sex industry. We support the work of Touching Base Incorporated, an organisation which provides information, referral and training to facilitate access to sex work services for people with disability. We believe these services should not be excluded from the services able to be accessed through NDIS or related schemes, nor should the person who chooses these services be discouraged, discriminated against, disadvantaged or questioned about their ability to manage their plan. I'm scared to have sex because I'm not ready to have it. And I know some issues about having sex but I'm just not ready for it. Danielle, Love & Kisses/the DVD

> It's just good to have Ron close because he's a good companion and good boyfriend. He's good to have sex with. Louise, Love & Kisses/the DVD

...when we provide training we are building the capacity of disability workers, parents and carers to then provide education to people with disability. At Family Planning NSW we currently do not have funding or the services to provide that direct education to people with a disability.¹¹



3.3 Decision-making

Family Planning NSW supports the rights of people with disability to make their own decisions about their reproductive and sexual health.

Most people with disability are able to make their own decisions about their reproductive and sexual health when given the appropriate level of support and/or information.

Some people with disability (including those under the age of 18 years) will need support to improve their capacity to make decisions. They may not previously have received adequate education about reproductive and sexual health to enable them to have the knowledge and skills to make decisions and they will require support from clinicians, parents and support workers to develop their knowledge.

Access to education about sexual health, sexuality, safety and relationships is a necessary and lifelong need for people with disability. Many people, especially those who are older, have not had any education that can assist them with making decisions in these areas. Strategies for providing this education need to be customised to the individual requirements of the person. Generally, one-off education is not sufficient. Rather it should be a planned programme that builds knowledge and life skills relevant to the person's circumstances and life stage.

Both disability – specific and mainstream services need to provide education and information to the people they support. However currently there is a serious gap in services that are able to meet this need.

To effectively and legally assist a person with disability the clinician, health or disability worker must have the skills and expertise to talk about reproductive and sexual health issues including understanding how informed consent relates to a person with disability making a decision about their reproductive and sexual health. Family Planning NSW has developed a range of unique resources to meet the learning needs of people with intellectual disability to increase their capacity to make informed decisions about reproductive and sexual health issues. Our publications are easy to read with clear illustrations to reinforce key messages. All our resources are focus tested in partnership with people with intellectual disability.

- Sex Safe and Fun an easy English resource aimed at providing positive safe sex messages to people with intellectual disability. The resource can be used by inexperienced educators including parents and carers, and includes topics such as good and bad sex, safe sex, and the law
- All About Sex a series of 19 easy to read fact sheets covering a range of reproductive and sexual health issues including puberty, relationships, pregnancy and birth, menopause and sexual assault
- Love & Kisses/the DVD developed in partnership with actors with disability from the Altogether Drama Group. The DVD has four educational scenes covering safe sex, dating, marriage and socially appropriate sexual behaviour as well as interviews with the drama group members about relationships, love and sex. The DVD shows people with disability as sexual beings with dreams and aspirations just like anyone else
- About Masturbation (for males and females) are social stories for people with intellectual disability to explain the differences between public and private (appropriate) masturbation
- Clinical Guidelines: Supporting people with a disability is a best practice framework for clinicians working in reproductive and sexual health services



If a person lacks capacity to make a particular decision then a substitute decision-maker, such as a parent or spouse, is able in some situations to make that decision on their behalf. Clinicians and carers need to understand when a substitute decision-maker is necessary and who that can be. This should only happen if everything has been done to increase the person's ability to make that decision, they have been told what is going to happen and they have shown no opposition. Despite their inability to make a decision, a person still retains the right to access the same services and interventions as other people. This requires that those people who are supporting them are well informed about the choices available.

All decisions should be reviewed regularly with the person, and steps should continue to be taken to build their ability to make decisions, particularly as they get older.

3.4 The many faces of diversity

People with disability are often stereotyped or seen as one homogenous group, which means they are not viewed as unique individuals least of all sexual beings who have a right to the same diversity of sexual expression as everyone else. For people with disability to be fully included in community life requires action which acknowledges their diversity including the provision of services which are sensitive and flexible to meet a range of different needs. Family Planning NSW values and celebrates diversity in our work with people with disability.

Sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex (LGBTI) people with disability in Australia face multiple exclusions and discriminations in the expression and enjoyment of their sexuality.⁴⁰ Throughout history both LGBTI people and people with disability have had their reproductive and sexual rights ignored and denied.⁴¹ In recent years increased recognition of LGBTI people and people with disability in human rights legislation^{3,42} and Australian anti-discrimination laws⁴³⁻⁴⁵ have led to improved opportunities however progress is slow. The health and wellbeing of LGBTI people and people with disability continues to be disproportionately poorer than the general population and heterosexism, homophobia and transphobia dominate as leading causes of social exclusion and discrimination.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹ Limitations in the available data demonstrate the invisibility of people with disability in LGBTI research and the lack of consideration of LGBTI in disability research. There are currently no Australian health education resources that provide comprehensive information about sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status for people with intellectual disability. A person with disability should not be discriminated against based on their sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status and this should be stated in all published material related to government policy, legislation, strategy and health service design and delivery.

Cultural diversity

There is very little literature about the health needs of people with intellectual disability from a culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) background in Australia and no known literature that deals specifically with reproductive and sexual health issues. The National Ethnic Disability Alliance (NEDA), in its 2010 report on people with disability in Australia, estimates that people from CALD backgrounds with disability comprise one in 20 Australians or approximately one million people.⁵⁰ The report does not distinguish between physical and intellectual disability, sensory or other impairments.

Typically people with disability from CALD backgrounds are disadvantaged and marginalised. They remain hidden from mainstream services relying on informal community and family supports.⁴⁴ They typically present to disability service providers as a result of a crisis and therefore their reproductive and sexual health needs are a low priority in comparison to the housing, financial, legal and acute health needs that often stimulate first contact with service providers.



The stigmatising effect of disability as well as the taboo subject of sexuality in some CALD communities further isolates people with disability.

In 2011, Family Planning NSW interviewed four disability peak bodies about the reproductive and sexual health needs of people with intellectual disability from CALD backgrounds. They reported that the service system in general did not have capacity to deal appropriately with sexuality and disability nor with the degree of cultural competency that is required to meet the needs of people with disability from CALD backgrounds. The inequality faced by people with disability from CALD backgrounds is exacerbated by a lack of referral pathways and translated information and resources.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

The prevalence of disability in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities is approximately twice that of the non-Indigenous population, and they experience poorer reproductive and sexual health outcomes.⁵⁵

The discrimination and isolation experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability is compounded by support services which are poorly targeted and located. The culturally appropriate disability support services that do exist are not equipped or resourced to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability to access specialised reproductive and sexual health services. This has resulted in a landscape where the vast majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability do not have their needs met in any significant way.⁵⁵ There is limited understanding about the most effective service delivery models that would best meet the needs of this group of people. Models that could be explored include:

- outreach services to encourage increased inclusiveness
- training Aboriginal Liaison workers to educate communities to support Aboriginal people with disability to make their own choices

In NSW the situation is particularly acute in rural and remote areas.



Family Planning NSW has developed a suite of Aboriginal specific resources to provide culturally appropriate reproductive and sexual health information to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities





Choice, independence and inclusion should be supported to allow a person with disability to achieve optimal reproductive and sexual health

(UNCRPD Articles 16, 21, 23, 24 and 25)

- Access to sexuality education, sex services and reproductive and sexual health services are included in the NDIS and person centred planning
- People with disability have access to comprehensive sexuality related education during all life stages, customised to meet their individual needs
- The NSW and Federal Governments implement recommendation 4 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
- that in the development of participant plans (particularly for participants approaching puberty and in their teens), the participant work with any person assisting them with plan development, and with the NDIS, to cover the need for understanding of sexuality and sexual relationships, support for relationships and sex education that meets the participants' needs, and covers appropriate support for menstrual management for girls and women with disabilities
- The NSW Government facilitates greater awareness of the reproductive and sexual health services available to disability service providers. This should be provided at a regional level and where physical services are not available, reproductive and sexual health information, referral websites, phone and email services (such as Family Planning NSW Talkline) should be promoted to disability service providers

- Professional development is supported for disability workers to assist in managing reproductive and sexual health issues for people with disability
- Funding is provided for Family Planning NSW to deliver workshops in rural and regional areas of NSW that are customised to develop skills in communication, increased knowledge of the sexual rights of people with disability and knowledge of referral pathways. The workshops will be offered to both disability and sexual health workers to bring the two workforces together
- The NSW and Federal Governments support Recommendation 3 and 6 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
 - that medical workforce training include training with respect to the ethical and legal aspects of informed consent, substitute and supported decision-making and fertility control.
 - that, for a person with disability who has the capacity to consent, or to consent where provided with appropriate decision-making support, sterilisation should be banned unless undertaken with that consent
- An education and training program is developed to support clinicians and health workers in the private and public health settings to understand and appropriately support decision-making by people with disability, particularly as it relates to their reproductive and sexual health. The programme should be supported by resources and other appropriate communication tools⁸
- Sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status are acknowledged in all disability policy, government statements and documentation, strategies and service delivery frameworks



- People with disability from CALD backgrounds are acknowledged in all disability policy, government statements and documentation, strategies and service delivery frameworks
- People with disability from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds are acknowledged in all disability policy, government statements and documentation, strategies and service delivery frameworks
- National and state policies related to reproductive and sexual health, including the NSW HIV strategy, make explicit reference to the needs of people with intellectual disability. It should be clear that people with disability are represented in all priority populations groups⁵¹
- Easy to read information and education resources on reproductive and sexual health are translated into key languages to support people with disability and their families and carers from CALD backgrounds
- Research is undertaken to inform reproductive and sexual health service delivery for people with disability from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds
- Pathways are developed for LGBTI people with disability to access services provided by the LGBTI service sector
- Specific programs are developed to address the social isolation experienced by LGBTI people with disability. This includes opportunities for socialising
- Easy to read information and education resources on sexual orientation, gender identity and intersex status are developed and distributed



sexual health and relationships education in schools



4. sexual health and relationships education in schools

People with disability should receive information and education from childhood to adulthood about topics such as their bodies, sexual health, safety, sexuality, diversity, feelings, self-esteem and relationships. Sexual health and relationships education should start from a young age so people with disability gain the knowledge and skills they need to make informed decisions and keep themselves safe.

It's recognised that while the NSW Department of Education and Communities (DEC) has a significant role in providing age-appropriate sexual health and relationships education to young people with disability, the NSW Ministry of Health, ADHC, disability service providers, parents and carers, GPs and other health professionals also play an important role in the provision of education and information.

4.1 Secondary school education

Sexual health and relationships education in NSW secondary schools is taught through the Personal Development, Health and Physical Education (PDHPE) syllabus which includes a *Life Skills Module* specifically designed to meet the learning needs of students with intellectual disability. The module is ambiguous and open to interpretation and therefore students' access to comprehensive sexuality education that meets their individual learning needs is dependent on the ability and interest of individual teachers and schools. There is also little accountability for schools or teachers to meet these learning outcomes.

Well it was from school when I did PE and we spoke about having sex. And Liz showed me a lot of sex as well in books and on video tapes and I'm learning quite a lot of sex terms for what it means. Danielle, Love & Kisses/the DVD With little guidance and without a clear requirement for the provision of sexual health and relationships education, teachers are concerned that by talking about sex to students with intellectual disability that will be a risk. Competing demands in the PDHPE syllabus Life Skills Module (e.g. drug education, nutrition, and exercise) means that teachers do not have time to adequately teach students about important sexual health topics.

The Life Skills Module for secondary students does not promote a positive and holistic approach to sexual health and relationships education. Teachers need a framework that will help them recognise education as being more than just addressing risks or perceived problems such as menstruation, inappropriate touching and unwanted sex. The importance of building students' understanding of body ownership, capacity to consent, and skills in making friends and negotiating relationships need to be stated explicitly within the syllabus. The module should reflect a whole of school approach to providing sexual health and relationships education, which involves parents and carers who can reinforce consistent messages and provide safe learning in environments outside of school hours.

There's lots of barriers in delivering it [sexual health and relationships education]...but with this certainly one of the key things would be to make sure that information they then took on would be directed appropriately. Special school teacher, Family Planning NSW teacher consultation

30

4.2 Primary school education

Unlike secondary school, primary schools do not have a specific disability module for teaching sexuality and relationships education. The PDHPE syllabus for primary aged students is generic and provides no guidance around the specific sexuality learning needs of children with intellectual disability including protective behaviours, puberty, friendships and feelings. It is important that appropriate sexual health and relationships education starts at a young age to prepare and increase the person with disability's capacity to make healthy decisions and develop protective behaviours. Teachers need a framework that provides specific guidance in teaching sexual health and relationships education to students with intellectual disability.

4.3 Training for teachers

Special education teachers often lack training in sexual health and relationships education, while PDHPE teachers often have no training in working with young people with disability. With limited training opportunities which specifically address sexual health and relationships education for students with disability, many teachers are left feeling unsupported and inadequately prepared to teach this important part of the syllabus.⁵²

Findings of the May 2012 Family Planning NSW consultation with teachers involved in delivering the Life Skills Module:

- Teachers generally do not feel confident or adequately trained to deliver sexual health and relationships education, specifically information on sexual activity (e.g. masturbation) and safe sex (e.g condom use) to older students
- Female teachers may feel uncomfortable providing sexual health and relationships education to male students with disability
- Teachers (specifically PDHPE teachers) are unsure of resources that support the delivery of content and where to access those resources. They don't feel confident in adapting mainstream resources
- Most special education teachers are qualified in either early childhood or primary education and have not been trained in high school level sexual health and relationships education
- Smart boards and tablets are used for teaching students with disability, however online or digital resources (e.g. Apps) are not available for teaching sexual health and relationships education
- Teachers believe there is a significant role for parents in sexuality and relationships education for students with disability but are unsure how to engage with them





Students with disability should be provided with age appropriate, optimal sexuality and relationship education in all NSW schools

(UNCRPD Articles 21 and 24)

- That the NSW Government implement recommendation 1 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
- that in education programs relating to disability and in sex education and family planning information targeted to the disability sector, education about relationships and sexuality for people with disability should be prioritised, with an emphasis on the reasonable and normal aspirations of people with disability regarding their sexuality and relationships
- The NSW DEC conducts a review of the Life Skills Module with an emphasis on introducing best practice sexual health and relationships education for students with disability including:
- The extent to which students with intellectual disability are being taught sexual health and relationships education
- Identifying the barriers to providing effective sexual health and relationships education and the impact on student learning outcomes
- Pre-service teacher training is enhanced to include delivery of the Life Skills Module
- Special education teachers are provided with training to increase their skills in delivering the Life Skills Module
- The NSW DEC develops a Life Skills Module for primary school students with disability and provides guidelines and training for teachers to ensure its effective implementation

- Funding is provided for Family Planning NSW to develop easy to read information and resources to support sexual health and relationships education in schools
- The NSW Ministry of Health and the NSW DEC support the development of interactive technology for smart boards and tablets to reflect contemporary teaching practices for sexual health and relationships education for students with disability
- The NSW DEC provides clear guidelines to teachers about their role and responsibility to provide sexual health and relationships education in primary and secondary years and support teachers in the delivery of the module to students with disability
- The NSW DEC actively and openly encourages and supports parents and carers to participate in the teaching of sexual health and relationships education in schools



education and support for parents and carers

5. education and support for parents and carers

Parents and carers play a critical role in educating young people with disability about issues including puberty, relationships and safe sexual behaviour. Parents and carers are generally supportive of sexuality education for young people but can feel lost and isolated when dealing with the issues.⁵³ On one hand parents and carers want their child to grow up and live rich and fulfilling lives including the right to intimate relationships and sexual expression. On the other hand they can be overwhelmed by the potential risks and negative consequences associated with sexuality and an innate need to protect their child. Some parents and carers can find it challenging to recognise the physical development of the young person believing for instance that the child will never have a sexual relationship or become a parent.

A child's sexuality education comes from a range of sources, including parents, school and friends. A child with a disability can face a number of barriers when it comes to receiving sexuality education:

- Some people hold the misconception that people with a disability shouldn't have fulfilling sex lives or have access to sexuality education, in case it 'gives them ideas'
- Children with an intellectual disability who do receive sexuality education can find it confusing, unless the information is delivered in a way they understand
- Children with an intellectual disability might have trouble with social rules e.g. identifying the difference between private and public behaviours

One of the things that I have noticed with parents is that there are several times during their child's development where they experience loss; and the whole discussion around sexuality is another moment where they experience loss. I've had several parents just break down when they realise that their children are unlikely to be parents themselves.

> Primary special school teacher, Family Planning NSW teacher consultation

- Sexuality education is usually general in nature and doesn't cover sexual issues that might be associated with certain disabilities. For example, children who are blind from birth need to tell the difference between males and females by touch. It's helpful for these students to have anatomically correct 'life dolls' when learning about sexuality and relationships
- Parents might not have the information they need to help their child deal with puberty and changes to their bodies

The lack of resources, both for people with disabilities and their carers, was a recurring theme in submissions to the committee.¹¹



Our work with families and carers of people with disability is across the lifespan. We equip families and carers with knowledge, skills and information to assist them support the reproductive and sexual development of the person under their care. We do this in a way that takes into account the potential vulnerability of the person with disability and their right to personal safety throughout their life.

Family Planning NSW delivers parent forums across NSW that address many of the concerns and information needs of parents and carers and increases their confidence in providing support to the person under their care. Topics include relationships and dating, puberty, decision-making and safety, sexual health and safe sex, and contraception.

I just wanted say thanks for coming up to Dubbo to share your wealth of information to our small group of carers. I got a lot out of the day and although it may be boring listening to our stories, it's a great opportunity for us to talk and share. Having my daughter with Down Syndrome means for me having to step outside my comfort zone on so many more occasions than I ever thought I would do in my life. Thank you for assisting us to learn and to look at

> things from all different angles. Parent, Family Planning NSW parent forum

Since 2010, more than 1,200 people have participated in Family Planning NSW disability related community education activities.

I went to the forum and it was the most highly relevant course I have done in years. My daughter has mild/ moderate intellectual delay and it really helped me feel positive and excited about her future. It made me realise she can be a sexual being as long as she is educated in good versus bad relationships and private and public body parts and places. The presenters were obviously very experienced in their fields and handled the course delicately and promoted thought provoking discussion Parent, Family Planning NSW parent forum





Parents and carers of people with disability should be provided with education and appropriate resources to positively support the sexuality and relationships education of the child in their care

(UNCRPD Articles 21 and 23)

- The NSW DEC develops appropriate resources and information, specifically addressing issues relating to sexuality and disability, for parents and carers to engage in the sexuality education of their child
- The NSW DEC provides funding support for parents and carers to attend sexuality education courses which align with the teaching of sexual health and relationships education in schools
- ADHC supports organisations such as Family Planning NSW in the coordination of education forums (including in rural and remote areas of NSW) as a positive way to convey accurate information on reproductive and sexual health issues. The forums also give parents and carers a safe place to share their experiences and concerns with other parents
- Information is provided to parents and carers through government agencies and disability service providers about where to access support around sexuality and reproductive health education



training and skill development for clinicians, health professionals and disability workers

£961

6. training and skill development for clinicians, health professionals and disability workers

6.1 Capacity building of health professionals and disability service providers

All organisations that support people with disability should be required to have policies that present a human rights and positive approach to sexuality and relationships. To ensure that the policies are implemented, there needs to be a monitoring process, overseen by the relevant agency, that requires staff are trained and supported to apply the policies.

"

Information should be provided to disability workers in accommodation, transition to work and other programmes about topics such as puberty, menstruation, contraception, pregnancy and parenting, sexual health and healthy relationships to support their front line work with people with disability.

Heatlh workers and disability workers can support people in a more comprehensive way if they have clear, coordinated referral pathways to education providers and clinical services.

Currently many disability service providers in NSW lack detailed and appropriate policies that guide their work in the area of reproductive and sexual health. Where policy exists, such as the ADHC Policy on Human Relationships and Sexuality, staff lack guidelines and training on implementation to ensure a positive impact on the lives of people with disability.

life but based on what they think is a good life for people with disability. Supporting sexual expression for people with intellectual disability looks pretty radical to service providers. They grapple with their role to support people with intellectual disability in their sexuality. Policy officer, Family Planning NSW Disability and HIV consultation

Disability organisations want people to have a good



Training of disability workers and government staff is currently ad hoc and inadequate. To be successful, a workforce development programme should build:

- Skills in communication and provide information on the availability of reproductive and sexual health education low literacy resources
- Awareness of human rights and inclusive service delivery for people with disability
- Skills in assessing and building the capacity of people with disability to consent and make decisions
- Knowledge about the disability and reproductive and sexual health service system including referral pathways and support services such as Family Planning NSW Talkline

Family Planning NSW has an extensive reproductive and sexual health Disability Resource Collection, with publications and digital resources available for purchase or for loan to carers as well as service providers. The Family Planning NSW Library has around 340 members, almost half of which are disability workers.

Since 2010, close to 900 disability workers have attended the Family Planning NSW education and training courses.



6.2 Building clinical competence and confidence

To improve the reproductive and sexual health of people with disability there must be a focus on building the capacity of people who work within health services. Professional development must occur not just within disability service organisations, but also sexual health clinics, general practices and the hospital setting.

While all health professionals want to provide quality health and support services for people with disability, the majority of clinicians and health workers do not receive training or skill development to assist them in supporting and educating people with intellectual disability on reproductive and sexual health issues.

Information and resources should be provided to health professionals about topics such as puberty, menstruation, contraception, pregnancy and parenting, sexual health and healthy relationships to support front line work with people with disability. Health education resources are important in supporting appropriate and meaningful communication with people with intellectual disability about reproductive and sexual health. These resources should include easy to read and picture-based materials and should also take into account people with disability from non-English speaking backgrounds. Family Planning NSW conducts highly successful education programmes in reproductive and sexual health for GPs which include a comprehensive review of contraceptive options with a case-study approach to the management of reproductive and sexual health issues for people with disability. This includes a review of the law in relation to fertility control and skills-based training in communication and supported decision-making.

It is an oversight on the part of a general practitioner to assume that a woman with a disability is unable to be sexually active due to her level of physical impairment.⁵¹ Furthermore, to assume that a woman has never been sexually active on the basis of her disability ignores the fact that women with disability are more likely to have experienced sexual abuse than the general female population.⁵⁴





Workforce development strategies should be implemented for clinicians and health and disability workers to provide a safe place for people with disability to access optimal reproductive and sexual health services

(UNCRPD Articles 16, 21 and 25)

- Family Planning NSW receives funding to:

 expand its professional development programme for GPs, other clinical professionals, disability workers and HIV and sexual health workers
- develop on-line and easy to read resources to support clinicians and other clinical professionals, disability workers and HIV and sexual health workers
- The ADHC Human Relationships and Sexuality Policy is reviewed and updated and training provided to staff to ensure its effective implementation
- Disability service providers are required to implement organisational policies to protect the rights of people with disability in regard to reproductive and sexual health
- Mandatory training in reproductive and sexual health is introduced for disability workers
- The Community Service Training Package CHC08 is reviewed by the Community Services and Health Industry Skills Council to include reproductive and sexual health as a core unit of competency for qualifications in disability, youth work and other relevant sectors
- Undergraduate clinicians are trained to better understand the rights of people with disability and develop skills to uphold these rights
- Medicare Locals and LHDs promote education to GPs and other health workers about the reproductive and sexual health needs of people with disability

- That the NSW and Federal Governments implement recommendations 2 and 19 of the Community Affairs References Committee report into the Involuntary or Coerced Sterilisation of People with Disabilities in Australia:¹¹
 - that medical workforce training with respect to sexual and reproductive health includes content on supporting sexual relationships and sexual and reproductive health needs for people with disability
 - that courts and tribunals develop information packs and questionnaires to provide guidance for medical experts in sterilisation cases. The information packs should specify the factors that courts and tribunals consider under the relevant legislation, and should also note issues that the courts and tribunals are not authorised to consider such as outdated and paternalistic attitudes to disability, eugenic arguments or assessments of the person's current or hypothetical capacity to care for children. Questionnaires should seek the medical expert's advice about the procedures that could usefully be adopted in the particular case to facilitate both a robust medical assessment and the person's participation in the proceedings
- The NSW Government and Medicare Locals facilitate greater awareness of the reproductive and sexual health services available to support people with disability. This should be provided at a regional level and where physical services are not available, reproductive and sexual health information and referral websites, and phone and email services (such as Family Planning NSW Talkline) should be promoted to disability service providers
- The NSW Government includes data collection for people with disability in the reporting requirements for government contracts for all reproductive and sexual health



7. bibliography

- 1. Family Planning NSW. Reproductive & sexual health: an Australian clinical practice handbook. Ashfield, Sydney: FPNSW, 2011.
- 2. Family Planning NSW, Family Planning Queensland, Family Planning Victoria. Contraception: an Australian clinical practice handbook. Queensland: Family Planning Queensland, 2012.
- United Nations. Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities. Available at: http://www.un.org/ disabilities/convention/conventionfull.shtml. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- Australian Government, Productivity Commission. Disability care and support inquiry. Available at: http://www.pc.gov.au/projects/inquiry/disabilitysupport/report. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- Commonwealth of Australia. National disability strategy 2010-2020. Available at: http:// www.fahcsia.gov.au/sites/default/files/ documents/05_2012/national_disability_ strategy_2010_2020.pdf. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- NSW Government. National disability strategy NSW implementation plan 2012–2014. Available at: http://www.adhc.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/ file/0003/262542/3002_ADHC_NDS_NIP_A4_reprint_ web.pdf. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- 7. NSW Ministry of Health, Inter Government and Funding Strategies & Integrated Care. Service framework to improve the health care of people with intellectual disability. Available at: http:// www0.health.nsw.gov.au/pubs/2012/pdf/service_ framework_2012.pdf. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- 8. NSW Disability Services Act 1993. Available at: http:// www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/nsw/consol_act/ dsa1993213/. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- Australian Government, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations. Disability standards for education 2005. Available at: http:// deewr.gov.au/disability-standards-education. Accessed on 23 July 2013.

- NSW Ministry of Health. NSW health framework for women's health 2013. Available at: http://www.health. nsw.gov.au/women/Publications/Womens-Health-Framework-2013.pdf. Accessed on 23 July 2013.
- 11. Commonwealth of Australia, Community Affairs References Committee. Involuntary or coerced sterilisation of people with disabilities in Australia. Available at: http://www.aph.gov.au/ parliamentary_business/committees/senate_ committees?url=clac_ctte/involuntary_sterilisation/ first_report/index.htm. Accessed on 23 July 2013.
- Wilson C, Brewer N. The incidence of criminal victimisation of individuals with an intellectual disability. *Australian Psychologist* 1992; 27(2), 114–17.
- 13. Brownlie EB, Jabbar A, Beitchman J, Vida R, Atkinson L. Language impairment and sexual assault of girls and women: Findings from a community sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology* 2007; 35(4), 618–626.
- 14. French P. Disabled justice: The barriers to justice for persons with disability in Queensland. Report prepared by the Disability Studies and Research Institute. Brisbane: Queensland Advocacy Incorporated, 2007.
- 15. Women with Disabilities Australia. More than just a ramp: A guide for women's refuges to develop disability discrimination act action plans (Resource manual on violence against women with disabilities project). Hobart, 2007a.
- Women with Disabilities Australia. It's not OK—It's violence: Information about domestic violence and women with disabilities (Resource manual on violence against women with disabilities project). Hobart, 2007b.
- 17. Brownridge DA. Partner violence against women with disabilities: Prevalence, risk and explanations. Violence Against Women 2006; 12(9), 805–822.
- Martin SL, Ray N, Sotres-Alvarez D, Kupper LL, Moracco KE, Dickens PA, Scandlin D,Gizlice Z. Physical and sexual assault of women with disabilities. Violence Against Women 2006; 12(9), 823–837.



- Salthouse S, Frohmader C. Double the Odds: Domestic Violence and Women with Disabilities. (Paper presented at Home Truths Conference, Melbourne, 15–17 September 2004).
- 20. Keilty J, Connelly G. Making a statement: An exploratory study of barriers facing women with an intellectual disability when making a statement about sexual assault to police. *Disability & Society* 2001; 16(2), 273–291.
- 21. Phillips J. Sexual assault, multiple disabilities and the law. Australasian Feminist Law Journal 1996; 7:152–162.
- 22. Victorian Law Reform Commission. Sexual offences: Law and procedure. Final report. Melbourne, 2004.
- 23. Victorian Law Reform Commission. Sexual offences: Interim report. Melbourne, 2003.
- 24. Basson R. Sexual health of women with disabilities. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 1998; 159(4): 359-362.
- 25. Becker H, Stuifbergen A, Tinkle M. Reproductive health care experiences of women with physical disabilities: A qualitative study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1997; 78(Dec): 26-33.
- 26. Djuretic T, Laing-Morton T, Guy M, Gill M. Cervical screening for women with learning disability: concerted effort is needed to ensure these women use preventive services. *BMJ* 1999; 318:537-8.
- 27. Oshima S, Kirschner KI, Heinemann A, Semik P. Assessing the knowledge of future internists and gynaecologists in caring for a woman with tetraplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1998; 79(Oct):1270-1275.
- 28. Peters L. Women's health care. Approaches in delivery to physically disabled women. *Nurse Practitioner* 1982; (Jan): 34-37, 48.
- 29. Smeltzer SC. Viewpoint: Double jeopardy. American Journal of Nursing 2000; 100(8): 11.
- 30. Thierry JM. Increasing breast and cervical cancer screening among women with disabilities. *J*

Womens Health Gend Based Med 2000; 9(1): 9-12.

- Welner SL. Screening issues in gynecologic malignancies for women with disabilities: Critical considerations. Journal of Women's Health 1998; 7(3): 281-285.
- 32. Welner SL, Foley CC, Nosek MA, Holmes A. Practical considerations in the performance of physical examinations on women with disabilities. *Obstetrical and Gynaecological Survey* 1999; 54(7): 457-462.
- 33. Cheng E, Myers L, Wolf S, Shatin D, Xin-Ping C, Ellison G, Belin T, Vickery B. Mobility impairments and use of preventative services in women with multiple sclerosis: Observational study. *British Medical Journal* 2001; 323: 968-969.
- 34. Young R, Gore N, McCarthy M. Staff attitudes towards sexuality in relation to gender of people with intellectual disability: a qualitative study. *J Intellect Dev Disabil* 2012; 37(4):343-7.
- 35. Smeltzer SC. Pregnancy in women with physical disabilities. *J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs* 2007; 36(1): 88-96.
- 36. NSW Cervical Screening Program. Preventative women's health care for women with disabilities: guidelines for general practitioners, background and literature review. Available at: http://www.wwda.org. au/nswguidelines1.pdf. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- Family Planning NSW. Disability and HIV consultation: findings and recommendations. Ashfield, Sydney: FPNSW, 2012.
- 38. Gomez MT. The S words: sexuality, sensuality, sexual expression and people with intellectual disability. *Sex Disabil* 2012; 30(2):237-45.
- 39. Government of South Australia, Department for Communities and Social Inclusion. Intellectual disability and mental illness (dual disability) [fact sheet]. Available at: http://www.sa.gov.au/upload/ entity/1646/DS%20documents/information-sheets/ intellectual-disability-and-mental-illness-dualdisability.doc. Accessed on 23 July 2013.



- Fraley SS, Mona LR, Theodore PS. The sexual lives of lesbian, gay, and bisexual people with disabilities: psychological perspectives. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy* 2007; 4(1):15-26.
- Kempton W, Kahn E. Sexuality and people with disabilities: a historical perspective. SexDisabil 1991; 93:95-97.
- 42. International Planned Parenthood Federation. IPPF Charter on sexual and reproductive rights. London: International Planned Parenthood Federation, 2003.
- 43. Australian Government. Australian Human Rights Commission Act 1986. Available at: http://www. comlaw.gov.au/Details/C2013C00080. Accessed on 17 July 2013.
- 44. Australian Government. Disability Discrimination Act 1992. Available at: http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/ consol_act/dda1992264/. Accessed on 17 July 2013.
- 45. Australian Government. Sex Discrimination Act 1984. Available at: http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/ consol_act/sda1984209/. Accessed on 17 July 2013.
- 46. Ministerial Advisory Committee on Gay and Lesbian Health (MACGLH). What's the difference? Health issues of major concern to gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender and intersex (GLBTI) Victorians: Research paper. Melbourne: Rural and Regional Health and Aged Care Services Division, Victorian Government Department of Human Services, 2002.
- Pitts M, Smith A, Mitchell A, Patel S. Private lives: a report on the health and wellbeing of GLBTI Australians. Melbourne, Victoria: Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University, 2006.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing: Summary of Results. ABS Cat. No. 4326.0. Canberra: ABS, 2007.
- 49. Dane SK, Masser BM, MacDonald G, Duck JM. Not so private lives: National findings on the relationships and well-being of same-sex attracted Australians. Queensland: The University of Queensland, School of Psychology Publications, 2010.

- 50. Kaczorek S, Wadiwel D, Cooper B, National Ethnic Disability Alliance. People from non English speaking background with disability in Australia: What does the data say?Available at: http://apo.org.au/research/ people-non-english-speaking-background-disabilityaustralia-what-does-data-say. Accessed on 17 July 2013.
- 51. NSW Ministry of Health. NSW HIV strategy 2012– 2015: A new era. Available at: http://www.health. nsw.gov.au/publications/Publications/nsw-hivstrategy-2012-15.pdf. Accessed on 25 June 2013.
- Thompson D, Fisher KR, Purcal C, Deeming C, Sawrikar P. Community attitudes to people with disability: scoping project. Occasional Paper No. 39. Available at: http://www.fahcsia.gov.au/aboutfahcsia/publications-articles/research-publications/ occasional-paper-series/number-39-communityattitudes-to-people-with-disability-scoping-project. Accessed on 17 July 2013.
- 53. Brown RD, Pirtle T. Beliefs of professional and family caregivers about the sexuality of individuals with intellectual disabilities: examining beliefs using a Qmethodology approach. *Sex Education* 2008; 8(1):59-75.
- 54. Nosek M. Sexuality and reproductive health. In Krotoski DM, Nosek, MA, Turk MA (Eds.) Women with physical disabilities: achieving and maintaining health and well-being. Baltimore: P.H. Brookes Publishing Co, 1996.
- 55. Aboriginal Disability Network of NSW. Telling It Like It Is, a report on community consultations with Aboriginal people with disability and their associates throughout NSW, 2004-2005. Available at http://www.adnnsw.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2012/08/telling-it-like-it-is.doc. Accessed on 17th July 2013.
- 56. Murray S. and Powell A. Sexual assault and adults with a disability. Enabling recognition, disclosure and a just response. Issues Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault. No 9. 2008 http://www. aifs.gov.au/acssa/pubs/issue/acssa_issues9.pdf. Accessed on 19 November 2013.



Family Planning NSW Ashfield

328-336 Liverpool Road Ashfield NSW 2131 P: 02 8752 4300

Family Planning NSW Fairfield

24-26 Nelson Street Fairfield NSW 2165 P: 02 9754 1322

Family Planning NSW Penrith

13 Reserve Street Penrith NSW 2750 P: 02 4749 0500

Family Planning NSW Hunter

Ground floor, 384 Hunter Street Newcastle NSW 2300 P: 02 4929 4485

Family Planning NSW Dubbo

2B/155 Macquarie Street Dubbo NSW 2830 P: 02 6885 1544

Family Planning NSW Talkline

www.fpnsw.org.au/talkline P: 1300 658 886



www.fpnsw.org.au | talkline 1300 658 886 | bookshop

clinical services & information | education & training | research | international development Family Planning NSW is a not-for-profit organisation funded by the NSW Ministry of Health